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1. Whether a publicly traded company’s public statements portraying the 

company as an industry leader in environmental protection are inactionable 

under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act because they were not materially 

misleading and were not made with scienter. 

2. Whether plaintiffs in class action are required to claim and adequately plead 

that a CEO and Chairman of a publicly traded company who relied on 

expert advisors to guide his public statements was a culpable participant in 

an underlying securities violation under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

James Wilson is a self-made entrepreneur who founded his company, the 

Red River Exploration Company (“Red River”), in 1962 in West Texas and built 

it into a leader in the oil and gas industry. R. at 2. Wilson’s success compelled 

him to take his company public in 1985, and Red River registered under the 

Exchange Act, listing its common stock on the New York Stock Exchange. Id.  

While receiving an honorary doctorate at The North Texas College of 

Mines in the 1990s, Wilson met a geology professor who described hydraulic 

fracturing, a complex but novel process allowing for the extraction of oil and 

gas that was previously thought unreachable. Id. In this unique method of oil 

extraction, known as fracking, Wilson saw an opportunity to make a strategic 

pivot to take his business to the next level. Id. In 2000, Wilson pioneered the 

fracking movement in the United States by drilling the first deep fracking wells 

in the West Texas Darnett Shale, and by 2018 he had become an established 

leader in one of the world’s fastest-growing industries. R. at 4. 

Red River’s rise from a fledgling business in West Texas to a publicly 

traded corporation came with certain risks, which Wilson took proactive steps 

to mitigate. R. at 3-5. Following the company’s initial public offering, Wilson 

appointed Pamela Thompson as Chief Operating and Environmental Officer 

and Sandra Grimes as Senior Vice President and General Counsel. R. at 3. 

Thompson and Grimes were highly qualified experts in environmental 

protection and regulatory compliance when Wilson hired them, and together 

they advised Wilson on various environmental matters over the years. R. at 3-



P6 

2 
 

4. Red River disclosed environmental risks in its quarterly disclosures, and 

Wilson regularly consulted with Thompson and Grimes regarding the 

company’s environmental compliance regime, though he did not always agree 

with them. R. at 3-5. In 2017, Red River was notified by several university 

geology departments that Eagle Ford Shale, an area of Red River operations, 

had experienced some low-level seismic activity. R. at 5. Wilson consulted 

Thompson and Grimes, as well as his engineering team, all of whom provided 

him with advice leading him to conclude that there was no need for a public 

disclosure pertaining to any potential risk from the seismic activity. Id. 

Balancing the need for environmental protection against Red River’s 

business interests of was an ongoing struggle for Wilson. R. at 6. For example, 

Red River’s engineering team cautioned Wilson that the company’s toxic 

wastewater facilities were nearing capacity. R. at 5. However, Wilson shortly 

thereafter attended an industry conference where he became encouraged by 

the optimistic comments of a prominent extractives industry legal expert 

regarding possible legal exposure deriving from public statements about 

environmental safety. R. at 6. The expert opined that extractives executives had 

greater leeway than most people in the industry realized to make aggressive 

public statements about their companies’ environmental compliance measures. 

Id. Following the conference, and after Wilson consulted Thompson and 
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Grimes, Red River’s disclosure documents1 began emphasizing the company’s 

commitment to environmental protection and compliance. Id.   

In May 2018, Red River received more anecdotal reports regarding low-

level seismic activity, and Thompson obtained similar information stemming 

from fracking operations in South Dakota. Id. Thompson, Grimes, and Wilson 

met, and a decision was made that it was unnecessary to make a public 

disclosure with the potential to cause severe market turmoil. Id. However, the 

Red River executives decided to engage a prominent academic leader in geology 

to investigate. Id.  

Wilson remained confident in his company’s environmental compliance 

regime, and in May 2018 he made two public statements2 contending that Red 

River had exceptional environmental practices. R. at 7. Shortly thereafter, 

Thompson and Grimes received more reports regarding frequent low-level 

seismic activity in the Eagle Ford Shale. Thompson and Grimes declined, 

however, to disclose that information in Red River’s June 1, 2018 quarterly 

disclosure.3 Id. In the first week of June 2018, the Teacher Retirement System 

of Fordham (“TRSF”) and the Fordham Municipal Retirement Fund (“FMRF”) 

purchased a combined $58 million in Red River stock on the New York Stock 

Exchange. R. at 8.  

                                                        
1 See R. at 36 for statements made in Red River’s March 1, 2018 10-K 
disclosure form.  
2 See id. for Wilson’s May 15, 2018 public statements. 
3 See id. for statements made in Red River’s June 1, 2018 Form 10-Q.  
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On June 10, 2018, environmental disaster struck. Id. Several mid-level 

seismic shocks hit the Eagle Ford Shale, compromising Red River’s toxic 

wastewater facility, in turn contaminating West Texas groundwater and 

regional aquifers with millions of gallons of wastewater. Id. Red River’s stock 

price dropped precipitously that same day, falling from one hundred twenty-six 

dollars to ninety-four dollars and fifty cents by the market’s close. Id. Federal 

and state agency reports published in August 2018 revealed that Red River’s 

demolitions practices were unsafe, and the company’s wastewater storage 

tanks were overfilled. Id. It is unclear whether Red River’s blasting was related 

to the seismic activity, but fracking was conclusively determined to be the 

proximate cause of the wastewater spillage, which Red River’s geology expert 

agreed with. Id. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Courts review the grant of a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss de novo, 

construing the facts favorably for the non-moving party under the assumption 

that all facts in the complaint are true. No. 84 Employer-Teamster Joint Council 

Pension Tr. Fund v. Am. W. Holding Corp., 320 F.3d 920, 931 (9th Cir. 2003). 

However, courts are not required “to accept as true legal conclusion couched as 

factual allegation.” Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (citing 

Papasan v. Allain, 478 U.S. 265, 286 (1986)). There is a line between 

“conceivable” and “plausible,” and if a plaintiff’s claim does not cross that line, 

courts should dismiss the complaint. Id. at 570.   
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and its accompanying regulation, Rule 

10b-5, are meant to deter publicly traded companies from deceiving 

shareholders through misleading public statements. Courts have construed 

these laws to preclude issuers from making materially misleading statements 

in bad faith. However, there is a high bar for plaintiffs to make legitimate 

claims under Section 10(b). Pleadings must include specific facts that 

demonstrate in detail how statements allegedly in violation of the statute are 

misleading and in what way the issuer acted with intentional malice, also 

known as “scienter” in this context. By comparison, Section 20(a) of the 

Exchange Act can hold liable company executives or high-level corporate 

decision-makers, known as “control persons,” if they are culpable participants 

in an issuer’s primary Section 10(b) violation. Accordingly, claims under 

Section 20(a) must, at minimum, plead that the control person was a culpable 

participant in the underlying securities violation. 

 In this case, the Respondents have not adequately alleged a violation of 

either Section 10(b) or Section 20(a). There are insufficient facts in the record 

to demonstrate that any of the statements made on behalf of Red River were 

objectively false or misleading in any material way. The record instead suggests 

that Red River is simply a company in a risky industry that suffered sudden 

misfortune inherent to our system of capitalism. Perhaps the company could 

have been managed more effectively, but there is insufficient evidence to 

plausibly establish that the company knowingly or recklessly deceived its 
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shareholders in a manner amounting to scienter. Furthermore, even if the 

Section 10(b) claim is valid, nothing in the Respondents’ pleadings indicates 

that Wilson was a culpable participant in the primary Exchange Act violation. 

Indeed, the Complaint entirely omits such a pleading. The Respondents’ claim 

thus does not include facts and allegations to support all required elements of 

either a legitimate Section 10(b) or Section 20(a) claim. For these reasons, this 

Court should reverse the appellate court’s holding and reinstate the decision of 

the United States District Court for the District of Fordham granting the 

Petitioners’ motion to dismiss.   

ARGUMENT 

I. The claims raised against the Petitioners are inactionable under 

Section 10(b) as a matter of law, and those claims do not adequately 

plead scienter. 

 Section 10(b) makes it illegal for any issuer to use “any manipulative 

device or contrivance in contravention of [the] rules and regulations” prescribed 

by the Securities and Exchange Commission. 15 U.S.C. § 78(j)(b) (2018). Rule 

10-b5, promulgated under Section 10(b), further stipulates that an issuer may 

not “make any untrue statement of material fact or omit[] to state a material 

fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the 

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.” 17 C.F.R. § 

240.10b-5 (2018). For a 10(b) claim to be actionable in this context, the moving 

party must show that (1) the statement was a material misrepresentation, (2) 

the issuer acted with scienter, (3) the statement was in connection with the 
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purchase or sale of a security, (4) the plaintiff relied upon the statements, and 

(5) the reliance caused economic loss as a result of the material 

misrepresentation. See Dura Pharmaceuticals v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 341-42 

(2005). Scienter, the required mental state for an actionable 10(b) claim, is “an 

intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud or severe recklessness.” Ind. Elec. 

Workers’ Pension Trust v. Shaw Grp., Inc., 537 F.3d 527, 533 (5th Cir. 2008). 

 Furthermore, section 21D(b)(2) of the Private Securities Litigation Reform 

Act (“PSLRA”) requires that a class action complaint "state with particularity 

facts giving rise to a strong inference that the defendant acted with the 

required state of mind." 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2) (2018). Additionally, Federal 

Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b) (“FRCP 9(b)”) requires that, in a complaint, “a party 

must state with particularity the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake.” 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). 

 Red River’s statements in this case are inactionable because the 

Respondents have not established that (1) the statements were a material 

misrepresentation, and (2) the statements were made with scienter. Therefore, 

the Respondents have failed to satisfy the first two elements of the test set forth 

in Dura Pharmaceuticals, and they have thus not stated a claim upon which 

relief can be granted. 

a. The statements the Respondents cite were not misleading as to a 

 material fact and are thus inactionable. 

 A plaintiff’s claim under Section 10(b) must allege more than corporate 

mismanagement for the defendant’s misstatement to be actionable. Matrixx 
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Initiatives v. Siracusano, 563 U.S. 27, 38 (2011); Santa Fe Industries, Inc. v. 

Green, 430 U.S. 462, 466 (1977). Accordingly, a plaintiff in Section 10(b) action 

must show that allegedly misleading statements are more than the result of a 

lackluster corporate compliance regime that failed to prevent an incident 

negatively impacting the value of the defendant’s security. See Suez Equity 

Investors, L.P. v. Toronto-Dominion Bank, 250 F.3d 87, 99 (2d Cir. 2001); Panter 

v. Marshall Field & Co., 646 F.2d 271, 289 (7th Cir. 1981); Santa Fe Industries, 

430 U.S. at 466.  

 In this context, a plaintiff must prove that (1) an alleged 10(b) statement 

contained a fact that a reasonable investor would have relied on when deciding 

how to vote on the quality of investment in the defendant’s securities, and (2) 

but for the fraudulent statement, the investor would not have engaged in the 

transaction. See Basic v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 231-32 (1988) (applying a 

“total mix” standard when determining materiality, meaning that the statement 

would have to significantly alter the information available to the public); Mfrs. 

Hanover Trust Co. v. Drysdale Secs. Corp., 801 F.2d 13, 20 (2d Cir. 1986) 

(noting that a plaintiff must not only show that a misleading statement caused 

him to enter into a transaction but must also demonstrate that the statement 

directly led to the loss he suffered). The statements must also be more specific 

than general confidence expressed by a company in its practices, otherwise 

known as inactionable puffery. 
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1. The Respondents’ claims only raise an issue of internal corporate 

mismanagement, which this Court has specifically held to be 

inactionable under Rule 10b-5. 

 Public statements resulting from corporate mismanagement that are 

later proved to be false are not within the scope of Section 10(b) or Rule 10b-5. 

See Santa Fe Industries, Inc., 430 U.S. at 479-80 (defining the limits of Section 

10(b) and the difficulty that frivolous litigation would place on issuers). In this 

context, corporate mismanagement typically relates to inadequate procedures 

or incompetence by those in charge of the company. See In re Lululemon Sec. 

Litig., 14 F. Supp. 3d 553, 574 (S.D.N.Y. 2014). Jurisprudence involving 

Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 is designed to avoid placing blame on corporate 

managers for unruly market conditions. See Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & 

Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 326 (2007); In re MobileMedia Sec. Litig., 28 F. Supp. 

2d 901, 927 (D.N.J. 1998). Simply put, general claims made by a company do 

not rise to the level of actionable claims in purview of a decline in stock value. 

Public statements must be judged at the time they were made and based on 

the information available to the company at that time.   

 Courts have shown a reluctance to hold a manger’s public statements 

and verbal commitment to excellency as actionable under Section 10(b) when a 

company reasonably relies on practices to ensure quality at the time of the 

statements. In re Lululemon Sec. Litig., 14 F. Supp. 3d at 584-85. In Lululemon, 

the plaintiffs alleged that company managers negatively impacted investors by 

making constant statements about the quality control process of the company, 
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as well as the general quality of its products. Id. at 575. The statements 

included that the “quality was the highest level in the industry,” the company 

was the industry leader in “technical fabrics and quality construction,” “quality 

was the company’s key differentiating factor” from its peers, and “the company 

partnered with a leading independent inspection, verification, testing, and 

certification company.” Id. at 576. The court held that these statements, when 

viewed in context, were by no means “a guarantee of absolute quality at all 

times.” Id. at 578.  

 Material misrepresentation can occur when a company outright lies to 

investors, leading to the investors’ financial injury. Basic v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 

224, 238 (1988). In Basic, the defendant company was in long-term 

negotiations for a merger with a larger company, though the company 

maintained on three separate occasions that it was not in negotiations for a 

merger. Id. at 227-28. The company eventually notified the New York Stock 

Exchange to halt trading on its stock and then announced it had approved the 

merger the next day. Id. The plaintiffs sued, claiming injury because the 

company allegedly sold shares at “artificially depressed prices” after the first 

public statement denying merger discussions. Id. This Court noted that 

materiality is to be determined based on the facts of each case and therefore 

requires a case-by-case analysis. Id. at 249-50. In holding these statements as 

material and misleading to investors, the Court opined that if a company is 

publicly denying any knowledge of acquisition negotiations while, in fact, 

having these negotiations, such misbehavior rises to the level of materially 



P6 

11 
 

misleading. Therefore, when a company unequivocally lies to investors, the 

company’s statements are actionable under Section 10(b). Id. at 250. 

 Here, Red River’s statements are analogous to the statements presented 

in Lululemon. Stmts. 2-4 express a commitment to best environmental 

practices and by no means imply a guarantee of absolute immunity from an 

environmental accident. R. at 36. Red River appropriately applied a modifier in 

Stmt. 8, noting that its operations could be “subject to disruption by natural 

disasters beyond our control . . . including earthquakes.” Id. The Respondents’ 

allegations regarding Stmts. 2-4 are based on an unproven correlation between 

the fracking process and low-level seismic activity. R. at 4. The Respondents do 

not state any facts that extend beyond corporate mismanagement with the 

handling of wastewater storage. Red River consulted with its engineers who 

noted that there could be a need for increasing the capacity of the company’s 

wastewater storage facilities but did not state affirmatively that an accident 

was likely to occur. R. at 5.  

 Statements and actions made by an issuer must be viewed holistically, 

and taken in the context in which they are made, in order to determine 

whether they are misleading. Unlike Basic, Red River did not have affirmation 

that a catastrophic event would occur that would significantly impact the stock 

price. Basic maintained that the company was not in merger discussions while 

negotiating the merger. Red River, by contrast, had knowledge of potential 

issues, but nothing Red River knew was dispositive of an impending disaster 

that would plummet the stock price. To find Red River’s statements misleading 
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would require that all businesses disclose all information immediately upon 

receipt, regardless of whether the information is speculative, inaccurate, or 

incomplete. Such precedent would place an unreasonable burden on issuers 

and destabilize the market. 

 When viewed in context, Red River’s statements show that declining to 

increase the wastewater storage capacity may have been indicative of corporate 

mismanagement, but such behavior is not actionable under Section 10(b). 

Furthermore, Red River’s statements cannot reasonably be considered 

misleading in light of the company’s management structure and compliance 

regime. Here, Red River made public statements in good faith based on the 

information it had available to it at the time the statements were made. The 

company had existing compliance protocols, and Red River consulted qualified 

experts to oversee its environmental protection efforts. R. at 3-7. Just because 

Red River relied on deficient management structures in making its statements 

does not make those statements misleading. Section 10(b) is not meant to serve 

as a vehicle for shareholders to blame a company for public misstatements that 

are the result of underlying corporate mismanagement when any reasonable 

shareholder would consider the context in which the statements are made. 

2. The Petitioners’ statements are nothing more than inactionable 

puffery and are thus inactionable under Section 10(b) and Rule 

10b-5. 

Inactionable puffery is defined as “generalized statements of corporate 

aspiration and optimism . . . [upon] which no reasonable investor would rely,” 
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and it is widely accepted that companies make such statements in the interest 

of attracting business. See Rombach v. Chang, 355 F.3d 164, 174 (2d Cir. 

2004); In re Banco Bradesco S.A. Sec. Litig., 277 F. Supp. 3d 600, 647 (S.D.N.Y. 

2017) (noting inactionable puffery typically includes statements about 

“reputation, integrity, and compliance with social norms”). Because the 

Petitioners’ statements were effectively made as future outlooks on the 

company, and not official announcements of the company’s current affairs, 

they do not rise to the level of materially misleading and are thus inactionable 

under Section 10(b).  

Statements involving safety programs and protocols are too generalized 

to be materially misleading and have consistently been held as inactionable 

puffery. Ong v. Chipotle Mexican Grill, Inc., 294 F. Supp. 3d 199, 232 (S.D.N.Y. 

2018). In Ong, plaintiffs brought Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 claims after the 

company’s stock plummeted when a rash of food-borne illness outbreaks were 

linked to the company. Id. at 207-08. The plaintiffs in Ong claimed to have 

been materially misled by the following statements: “Chipotle’s ‘quality 

assurance department establishes and monitors the company’s quality and 

food safety programs,’ and . . . the company’s ‘training and risk management 

departments develop and implement operating standards for food quality, 

preparation, cleanliness and safety.’” Id. at 232. The court held that the 

plaintiffs failed to state an actionable claim under Section 10(b) and dismissed 

the case, specifically holding these statements as inactionable puffery too 

general for a reasonable investor to rely upon. Id. at 241. 
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In the present case, like Ong, the Respondents allege that generalized 

statements about safety precautions, integrity, and social norms rise to an 

actionable securities fraud violation. This is not the law. The Respondents seek 

to apply the lens of hindsight to Red River’s public statements on 

environmental safety to show these statements were materially misleading. 

Similar to the food-borne illness outbreaks in Ong, an environmental accident 

does not make Red River’s statements actionable under Section 10(b) and Rule 

10b-5 simply because they appear misleading when viewed retrospectively. Like 

Chipotle’s statements regarding quality assurance in its food and safety 

programs, Red River and Wilson, in Stmts. 5 and 7, expressed their beliefs 

based on knowledge of the threat of environmental issues concerning fracking 

at that time. These statements are thus sufficiently general to be considered 

inactionable puffery. R. at 36. Holding these statements to be actionable would 

create an unfathomable burden for issuers, and it would incentivize companies 

to stay mum on all safety practices to prevent securities fraud litigation in the 

event of a catastrophe. 

The Respondents’ allegations in the Complaint do not raise any specific 

claims that Red River made material misstatements. The alleged misstatements 

are simply too general for a reasonable shareholder to have relied upon when 

deciding to invest in a secondary securities market. Because the Respondents 

have not presented facts that these statements are anything beyond 

inactionable puffery, the 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim 

should be granted, as the district court correctly held. 
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b. The Respondents’ Complaint does not appropriately allege scienter 

 with particularity as required by the heightened pleading standards 

 of the PSLRA and FRCP 9(b). 

To raise an actionable claim, a plaintiff must state facts that lead to a 

strong inference of scienter, the required culpability under Section 10(b). 

Scienter requires, at a minimum, “an extreme departure from the standard of 

ordinary care so much that it presents a danger of misleading shareholders.” 

Adams v. Baker Hughes Inc., 292 F.3d 424, 430 (5th Cir. 2002). Scienter must 

be inferred at a standard of “‘cogent and compelling,’ not merely ‘reasonable’ or 

‘permissible.’” Ind. Elec. Workers’ Pension Trust Fund IBEW, F.3d at 533 

(quoting Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 315). Furthermore, to survive a 12(b)(6) motion, 

the plaintiff must allege a strong inference of scienter with particularity, 

considering the facts taken collectively, not “whether any individual allegation, 

scrutinized in isolation, meets that standard.” Adams v. Baker Hughes Inc., 292 

F.3d at 431; Gompper v. VISX, Inc., 298 F.3d 893, 897 (9th Cir. 2002). 

Viewing past statements in light of unforeseen events does not prove 

scienter. See, e.g., Lormand v. US Unwired, Inc., 565 F.3d 228, 254 (5th Cir. 

2009). Furthermore, alleging in a complaint that a company should have 

known an issue was going to cause future problems does not rise to the level of 

scienter. See, e.g., Adams v. Baker Hughes, 292 F. 3d at 430-31. In Adams, the 

plaintiffs alleged that senior management of the company knew about 

mounting problems from multiple mergers and acquisitions over the years. Id. 

Specifically, the plaintiffs stated that a lack of uniform accounting procedures 
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was going to negatively impact the business in a significant manner. Id. The 

plaintiffs further alleged that the defendants knew about this based on their 

positions in the company. Id. The Fifth Circuit held that alleged knowledge of 

nonconformity with generally accepted accounting principles was not enough 

information to plead scienter with particularity. Id. Additionally, the court 

opined that the business must know it is publishing false information or act 

with severe recklessness in the publication of such information. Id. at 433. 

Scienter is proven when a company outright lies to the public about a 

future event with explicit knowledge that the statements are entirely false, and 

the event could not possibly occur. Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 315. In Tellabs, the 

complaint alleged that the company had overstated financial reports, lied about 

next-generation technology development, and falsely reported earnings. Id. at 

327. This Court held that competing inferences must be weighed to determine 

whether there is a “strong inference” of scienter, as required by the PSLRA. Id. 

at 313-14. Furthermore, the plaintiffs must allege that a strong inference can 

be made that the company was not simply negligent or reckless in making the 

statement, but that the company acted with at least severe recklessness. Id.  

The element of scienter is met under Section 10(b) where a company 

makes a public statement surrounding a future event the company knows is 

unlikely to occur. In MobileMedia, the company publicly stated that an 

acquisition would “enhance its competitive position.” 28 F. Supp. 2d at 928. 

The court noted that the company’s statement specifically created a link 

between future success and the acquisition. Id. The plaintiffs alleged that 
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because MobileMedia had no rational basis for believing the acquisition would 

actually occur due to financial troubles, this statement supported a finding of 

scienter. Id. The court agreed and held that the company acted with scienter 

based on the lack of a rational basis in believing the acquisition would be 

carried out. Id. 

Like Adams, the Respondents in this case fail to state any circumstances 

in which Red River intentionally published materially misleading or false 

information regarding its business practices. While engineers noted instances 

where the capacity of Red River’s wastewater facilities may have been 

approaching their limit, the company did not receive notice that the limit would 

at some point actually be breached. This similarly applies to the reports Red 

River received from geology departments claiming a possible correlation 

between fracking and seismic activity in the Eagle Ford Shale. Red River’s 

environmental team was unconcerned about the reports and concluded that 

the seismic activity was “more likely caused by the deep discharge of massive 

amounts of wastewater than by fracking.” R. at 5. Red River knew of no more 

than a loose connection between fracking and seismic activity at the time the 

alleged misstatements were made, and any reasonable business would have 

acted similarly on the basis of such speculative information. Yet Red River still 

hired a prominent university geologist to investigate when they received 

additional reports of seismic activity related to fracking. R. at 7. 

The Respondents in this case have failed to meet the high standard of 

pleading sufficient facts leading to a “strong inference” of scienter. To pass this 
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standard, the Complaint in this case would need to show that there is no 

opposing inference that would be equally or more believable than the 

Respondents’ claim. Here, the Respondents did not allege any such set of facts 

when the statements are considered in context at the time they were made. The 

Respondents wishfully argue the Court should find a “strong inference” of 

scienter from unforeseeable events, which does not pass securities law muster. 

Accordingly, the Respondents have alleged, at most, simple negligence in this 

case, which is not sufficient for a finding of scienter under Section 10(b). Severe 

recklessness is instead the standard that the Respondents must plausibly meet 

to succeed in their claim. 

The present case is distinguishable from MobileMedia because the 

Respondents have failed to create a link between future success and Red 

River’s statements concerning environmental practices. MobileMedia’s public 

statement was objectively false, and the company was in dire financial trouble 

when making statements about an acquisition that it could not possibly afford. 

Red River’s statements concerning the environment reflect nothing more than a 

commitment to positive environmental practices with no direct linkage to a 

specific future event that would affect stock prices. The Respondents’ claim 

does not offer any inference of scienter with particularity as required by the 

PSLRA and FRCP 9(b) when viewed in context at the time the statements were 

made. Applying the standard defined in Tellabs, the statements in the 

complaint must be looked at holistically. In this case, the Complaint does not 
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allege a set of facts that lead to a “strong inference” of scienter over any 

opposing explanation. 

The PSLRA was designed to offer greater protections for issuers and their 

control persons through heightened pleading requirements, a standard which 

is notably unmet in this case. Courts have been more lenient to issuers when 

expressing positivity in future endeavors because virtually any statement could 

be held as a misrepresentation when unforeseen events are retrospectively 

scrutinized. David Hoffman, The Best Puffery Article Ever, 91 IOWA L. REV. 1395, 

1405 (2006). In this case, the Respondents have failed to allege a set of facts 

with particularity that lead to a finding of scienter in Red River’s actions. 

Therefore, the Petitioners’ 12(b)(6) motion should be granted, and this case 

should be dismissed. 

II. Wilson is not individually liable under Section 20(a) because the 

Respondents have not pled that he was a culpable participant in Red 

River’s alleged Section 10(b) violation. 

There are three elements that must be met to establish a prima facie 

case of control person4 liability under Section 20(a).5 A plaintiff must 

                                                        
4 A control person is someone with “the power to direct or cause the direction 
of the management and policies of a person, whether through the ownership of 
voting securities, by contract, or otherwise.” 17 C.F.R. § 240.12b-2 (2018). 
 
5 Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act dictates the following: 
 

Every person who, directly or indirectly, controls any person liable 
under any provision of this chapter or of any rule or regulation 
thereunder shall also be liable jointly and severally with and to the 
same extent as such controlled person to any person to whom such 
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demonstrate that (1) there was a primary violation of Section 10(b),6 (2) the 

defendant was in control of those individuals responsible for the primary 

violation, and (3) the defendant was a “culpable participant” in the primary 

violation. See, e.g., Boguslavsky v. Kaplan, 159 F.3d 715, 720 (2d Cir. 1998); 

Rochez Bros. v. Rhoades, 527 F.2d 880, 884-85 (3d Cir. 1975); Lanza v. Drexel, 

479 F.2d 1277, 1299 (2d Cir. 1973); but see Harrison v. Dean Witter Reynolds, 

Inc., 974 F.2d 873, 880 (7th Cir. 1992) (rejecting the applicability of the 

culpable participation element under Section 20(a)). If all three elements are 

established in the plaintiff’s complaint, the burden shifts to the defendant to 

assert a good faith defense, which can later be rebutted by the plaintiff. SEC v. 

First Jersey Sec., 101 F.3d 1450, 1473 (2d Cir. 1996) (citing Marbury Mgmt. v. 

Kohn, 629 F.2d 705, 716 (2d Cir. 1980)). 

The Second and Third circuits have well-developed case law requiring 

that plaintiffs in Section 20(a) claims plead specific facts giving rise to a strong 

inference of culpable participation in the underlying primary violation. See, 

e.g., Belmont v. MB Inv. Partners, 708 F.3d 470, 484 (3d Cir. 2013); Gordon v. 

Burr, 506 F.2d 1080, 1085-87 (2d Cir. 1974). While other circuits disagree with 

the legitimacy of the culpable participation element, the rationale behind the 

concept is grounded in Congress’ intent to implicate a defendant’s state of 

                                                                                                                                                                                   
controlled person is liable     . . . , unless the controlling person acted in 
good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce the act or acts 
constituting the violation or cause of action. 

 
15 U.S.C. § 78t(a) (2018). 
6 It should be assumed for the purposes of Section II of this Brief that whenever 
Section 10(b) is referenced, Rule 10b-5 is necessarily implicated. 
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mind in Section 20(a) claims. R. at 32-33. Furthermore, Congress’ enactment of 

the PSLRA refined the applicability of Section 20(a) by requiring a plaintiff to 

“state with particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that the 

defendant acted with the required state of mind.” Id. (citing 15 U.S.C. § 78u-

4(b)(2)). 

Both the first and third elements of Section 20(a) are lacking in this case. 

To begin with, the Respondents have failed to adequately allege facts that 

would plausibly amount to a primary 10(b) violation. However, even if a 

legitimate claim has been made under Section 10(b), Wilson cannot be held 

individually liable under Section 20(a) because the Respondents’ claim does not 

sufficiently plead that Wilson was a culpable participant in the supposed 10(b) 

violation. This reasoning is in line with Second and Third Circuit precedent as 

well as Congress’ intent in passing Section 20(a) through the lens of the 

heightened pleading requirements of the PSLRA.  

    a.  The appellate court erred in holding that the Respondents are                 

not required to plead culpable participation in order to establish  

a prima facie case because such a holding runs contrary to  

Congress’ intent. 

Congress enacted Section 20(a) to hold control persons accountable 

when they intentionally or recklessly participate in a securities violation by 

virtue of their position of authority. However, the PSLRA refines this concept by 

enhancing protections for defendants from dubious claims in securities cases. 

When it enacted the PSLRA, Congress emphasized this point by adopting the 
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Second Circuit’s heightened pleading requirements for scienter under Section 

10(b), which also apply to culpable participation in the case of Section 20(a). 

See Ganino v. Citizens Utils. Co., 228 F.3d 154, 169-71 (2d Cir. 2000) 

(acknowledging Congress’ explicit intent to “establish a heightened uniform 

Federal standard on pleading requirements based upon the pleading standard 

applied by the Second Circuit” under Rule 10b-5, and then extending the same 

pleading requirements to Section 20(a) (emphasis in the original)).  

1. Requiring the Respondents to plead that Wilson was a culpable 

participant in the supposed Section 10(b) violation is consistent 

with Congress’ intent in enacting the Exchange Act. 

Section 20(a) was enacted to account for the state of mind of the 

defendant in his actual involvement in an alleged securities violation. In 

Rhoades, the Third Circuit explained that Congress enacted an iteration of the 

Exchange Act that naturally corresponds to a state of mind requirement under 

Section 20(a). 527 F.2d at 885. Specifically, the Senate initially hoped for an 

“insurer’s liability” standard, while the House proposed a “fiduciary standard” 

imposing a duty of care. Id. The court in Rhoades correctly relied on Congress’ 

intent when it reasoned that imposing an insurer’s liability standard would 

expose a control person to sweeping liability for the actions of officers within 

the same company who might technically be subordinates, but over whom the 

control person has no actual control in practice. Id.; see also Lanza, 479 F.2d 

at 1299 (“The intent of Congress in adding this section . . . was obviously to 

impose liability only on those directors who fall within its definition of control 
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and who are in some meaningful sense culpable participants in the fraud 

perpetrated by controlled persons.”). 

This case epitomizes the type of situation in which Congress intended to 

require that a plaintiff prove culpable participation as part of a Section 20(a) 

claim. Here, the Respondents have claimed only that Wilson was a control 

person and that a primary violation occurred. R. at 9. To allow the case to 

proceed to trial would expose Wilson to personal liability for the actions of 

Thompson and Grimes, who he relied on to enforce the company’s compliance 

regime. For example, Stmts. 1-5 came just three months after Thompson and 

Grimes decided, in their December 2017 email exchange, that reports of low-

level seismic activity did not warrant public disclosure. R. at 5-6, 36. Wilson 

may have supervised Thompson and Grimes, but he had no feasible way of 

foreseeing the environmental disaster that would ultimately happen when the 

experts he relied on did not adequately advise him. The Respondents should at 

least have the burden of explaining through their pleadings how Wilson’s 

reliance on his environmental experts was so intentionally malicious or 

reckless that he misled shareholders.  

2. The PSLRA’s heightened pleading requirements should apply in 

evaluating the plausibility of the Respondents’ claim. 

The PSLRA affords protection to control persons by placing the burden 

on plaintiffs to plead the defendant’s nefarious state of mind with particularity 

from the outset. 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2)(A). The purpose of this safeguard is to 

deter “nuisance filings, targeting of deep-pocket defendants, vexatious 
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discovery requests and manipulation by class action lawyers.” Merrill Lynch, 

Pierce, Fenner & Smith Inc. v. Dabit, 547 U.S. 71, 81 (2006) (citing H. R. REP. 

NO. 104-369, at 31 (1995) (Conf. Rep.)).  

The PSLRA’s heightened pleading requirements are meant to be enforced 

beginning with the initial complaint because plaintiffs in Section 20(a) action 

must establish a defendant’s state of mind during the trial proceedings. The 

Southern District of New York in Mishkin v. Ageloff explained that because of 

Section 20(a)’s burden-shifting dynamic, every defendant is at some point 

forced to assert a good faith defense, regardless of the applicability of the 

element of culpable participation. No. 97 Civ. 2690, 1998 WL 651065, at *23-

24 (S.D.N.Y., Sep. 23, 1998).  

Once the defendant asserts that he acted in good faith, the plaintiffs in 

turn must prove the defendant’s state of mind to overcome this affirmative 

defense. Id.; see also Lapin v. Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc., 506 F. Supp. 2d 221, 

245 (S.D.N.Y. 2006) (explaining that once a defendant asserts a good faith 

defense, the burden of proof shifts back to the plaintiffs to rebut that defense). 

Accordingly, because a plaintiff must ultimately establish the defendant’s state 

of mind in a Section 20(a) claim, he is required by the PSLRA to “make a 

showing, prior to the submission of any proof by a defendant.” Mishkin, 1998 

WL 651065, at *24. It is immaterial when in the trial proceedings the plaintiff 

must prove a state of mind element, and the PSLRA should apply from the 

outset. Id.; but cf. Brian A. Melhus, Note, Control Person Liability: A Repudiation 

of Culpable Participation, 37 IOWA J. CORP. L. 929, 942 (2012) (arguing that 
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requiring culpable participation as part of the initial pleading and then allowing 

the defendant to assert a good faith defense is “redundant”). 

Applying the PSLRA’s heightened pleading requirements to Section 20(a) 

comports with the legislative purpose of the PSLRA to deter frivolous lawsuits 

designed to dislodge evidence of fraud through discovery. See Tellabs, 551 U.S. 

at 320. The Court in Tellabs illustrated this point by relying on the PSLRA’s 

legislative history to define the scienter standard under Section 10(b). Id.; see 

also R. at 24 (noting that culpable participation is similar to scienter in so far 

as it implicates a defendant’s state of mind). In doing so, the majority 

acknowledged the importance of the “PSLRA's twin goals: to curb frivolous, 

lawyer-driven litigation, while preserving investors' ability to recover on 

meritorious claims.” Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 320-22. Justice Stevens, in his 

dissent, elaborated on the importance of the PSLRA’s goal of protecting 

defendants from expensive discovery in meritless cases. Id. at 335-36. In 

particular, Justice Stevens was concerned with the privacy interests of 

defendants in securities litigation who, like criminal defendants, should not 

have the burden of proving their innocence through invasive discovery. Id. at 

336. 

 Here, the Respondents have not met the PSLRA’s heightened pleading 

requirements because they have not adequately alleged in the Complaint that 

Wilson was a culpable participant in the supposed 10(b) violation. Culpable 

participation, as an element inherently tied to fraud, necessarily implicates a 

defendant’s state of mind. Moreover, once Wilson asserts a good faith defense, 
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the burden would shift back to the Respondents to prove a link between 

Wilson’s state of mind and the impending environmental disaster. Following 

the reasoning in Mishkin, the Respondents would thus have to establish 

Wilson’s state of mind one way or another, meaning the PSLRA’s heightened 

pleading requirements should apply from the outset. 

Furthermore, allowing this case to proceed to trial without requiring the 

Respondents to plead sufficient facts exposes Wilson’s business operations to 

invasive and expensive discovery in clear violation of the PSLRA’s principles. 

Red River is a company engaged in an inherently risky business. R. at 3-4. 

Indeed, that is the very reason Wilson hired Thompson and Grimes as 

environmental experts, attended industry conferences, and sought the advice of 

academic leaders regarding environmental protection measures. R. at 3, 6-7. 

Perhaps Wilson could have been more thorough in his environmental 

compliance regime, but there is no way he or his investors could have foreseen 

the environmental catastrophe that ultimately occurred. The Respondents 

simply hope to ensnare Wilson and his company in a meritless lawsuit by 

grasping at the shadows of nonexistent evidence of nefarious intent.  

The PSLRA precludes the Respondents from seeking inculpatory evidence 

where they otherwise have none through an arduous discovery process. To 

affirm the appellate court’s decision would unfairly disadvantage Wilson by 

burdening him to assert a good faith defense without the procedural safeguard 

of knowing what exactly he is even accused of doing. This Court should thus 

consider the importance of the PSLRA’s purpose in preventing “fraud by 
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hindsight,” as it did in Tellabs, when applying the PSLRA’s heightened pleading 

requirement to the Respondents’ Complaint. 551 U.S. at 320 (quoting Shields 

v. Citytrust Bancorp., 25 F.3d 1124, 1129 (2d Cir. 1994)). 

b. The Respondents do not meet the burden of establishing that Wilson 

 was a culpable participant in the supposed 10(b) violation. 

In adherence with Congress’ intent, a defendant’s motion to dismiss with 

respect to control person liability should be granted if the plaintiffs fail to plead 

that the defendant was a culpable participant in the primary Exchange Act 

violation. For example, in Lanza, the Second Circuit upheld the motion to 

dismiss of a corporation’s director who was unaware that his company had 

deceived shareholders through misleading earnings figures. 479 F.2d at 1280-

81. The court reasoned that Congress’ intent in crafting Section 20(a) was 

clearly “to impose liability only on those directors who fall within its definition 

of control and who are in some meaningful sense culpable participants in the 

fraud perpetrated by controlled persons.” Id. at 1289. Lanza thus stands for 

the proposition that culpable participation is an element that a plaintiff has the 

burden of establishing through his pleadings, which is jurisprudence the Third 

Circuit has also adopted. See Rhoades, 527 F.2d at 889-91 (relying on Lanza in 

extending the culpable participation element to Third Circuit precedent). 

Where it is adequately pleaded, culpable participation in this context 

occurs when a control person acted as a knowing or reckless participant in a 

Section 10(b) violation. For example, in Belmont, the Third Circuit held that the 

defendants, who were directors of an investment firm, were not culpable 
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participants in a Ponzi scheme one of their employees carried out through a 

third-party hedge fund. 708 F.3d at 477-82. In its holding, the court 

scrutinized the defendants’ insufficient corporate compliance framework and 

failure to act on clear “red flags,” but held that such conduct did not rise to the 

level of culpable participation because the defendants’ behavior was not 

intentional or reckless. Id. at 485-87.   

The facts alleged by the Respondents do not plausibly rise to the 

requisite state of mind that culpable participation would entail. To begin with, 

Wilson took reasonable steps to balance environmental protection against his 

business interests. He hired highly qualified experts in environmental 

regulatory compliance, consulted his engineering team with regards to the 

safety of wastewater storage facilities, and considered the opinion of a legal 

expert on environmental disclosure requirements at the Midland Petroleum 

Club in crafting his public statements. R. at 3, 5-6. At worst, Wilson’s 

insufficient compliance mechanisms simply made him unaware of the degree of 

risk that his company faced, similar to the defendant in Lanza who was 

unaware of fraudulent earnings figures.  

The fact that Wilson may have overlooked indications of environmental 

risk does not meet the standard of culpable participation. While he did learn of 

anecdotal reports of seismic activity attributed to fracking, Wilson’s team 

advised him that the reports did not warrant “potentially market roiling 

disclosure[s].” R. at 7. These anecdotal reports were at most “red flags” that 

Wilson overlooked, but as the court held in Belmont, failure to act on warning 
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signs does not constitute culpable participation. 708 F.3d at 485-87. In fact, it 

was ultimately Thompson and Grimes who decided to postpone disclosing 

reports of seismic activity in Stmt. 8 despite knowing that Wilson had made 

arguably misleading public statements. R. at 7, 36. In a risky business like 

fracking, amid a myriad of different advisors pulling him in different directions, 

Wilson acted reasonably based on the information he had at his disposal. Such 

behavior does not amount to culpable participation in the alleged 10(b) 

violation. 

In this case, the Respondents have failed to plead in their Complaint that 

Wilson was a culpable participant in a primary securities violation. Second and 

Third Circuit precedent is clear in explaining that culpable participation must, 

at minimum, be included as part of the pleadings in the initial Complaint, but 

here that is simply not the case. For that reason, the majority below was 

incorrect in holding that “a plaintiff could succeed on a Section 20(a) claim 

without making any showing regarding the defendant’s state of mind, so long 

as the defendant does not raise a good faith defense.” R. at 25. The 

Respondents in this case could not plausibly succeed on their Section 20(a) 

claim since they have not made “any showing” regarding Wilson’s culpable 

participation, and they have thus failed to establish a prima facie case. Id. 

Because there is no prima facie case, Wilson is not obligated to assert any good 

faith defense, and the Respondents’ claim necessarily fails as a matter of law. 
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CONCLUSION 

 The Respondents have failed to state a claim upon which relief can be 

granted because they have not pleaded sufficient facts to hold Red River or 

Wilson liable under Section 10(a) or Section 20(a). Accordingly, the Petitioners 

respectfully request that this Court reverse the decision of the appellate court 

below and reinstate the United States District Court for the District of 

Fordham’s grant of the Petitioners’ motion to dismiss. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Team P6 

Counsel for the Petitioners 

 


